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PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION

The stuccoed, two-story building at 650 North 5th Avenue was constructed as a single- 
family residence; it has been converted to multi-family use. This fine house, de­ 
signed in the Mission Revival style, is one of the three oldest buildings constructed 
of reinforced cast-in-place concrete in the Salt River Valley. The main element of 
the house has a hipped, Spanish-tile roof with a hipped, tile cupola. Two tall chim­ 
neys with battered tops project above the roof. This main element has a porch on the 
two street facades of the corner lot. A porte-cochere occurs in the interior side 
yard and leads to a two-story garage. The arcade of the porch, which has a flat roof 
with a stepped and curvilinear parapet, has, except at the entrance, been infilled 
with stuccoed panels, which contain large double-hung windows. The infilling has had 
a major effect on the appearance of the building. The arcade of the front facade con­ 
tains five identical bays, one of which forms the porte-cochere. The original porch 
had an enclosing solid railing with a curvilinear top outline, which is repeated in 
the parapet of the porch roof. The porch roof parapet, the arches of the porch ar­ 
cade, and the top of the porch railing each have a projecting band that gives the 
facade a linear quality. These bands are now painted in a dark color, which accen­ 
tuates the linear pattern. The porch arcade is supported from the porch railing by 
short square columns. The porch roof serves as a deck (open second-story porch). 
Originally, the rooms at the rear of the house were probably open (or screened) 
porches. With the exception of the porch arcade and the front entrance door, original
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE/HISTORY

The Charles H. Dunlap House is significant for its outstanding Mission Revival de­ 
sign, its early use of reinforced cast-in-place concrete, and its association with 
prominent Phoenix businessman, Charles H. Dunlap.
Constructed ca. 1914, the house was designed in the Mission Revival style, which was 
popular in the West from ca. 1893 until ca. 1920. The Mission Revival style was 
first introduced in 1893 by A. Page Brown at the Columbian Exposition in Chicago. 
The building's simplicity of form, round arches supported by piers, stepped and cur­ 
vilinear parapet, red-tile hipped roof, and canales all exemplify the Mission Re­ 
vival style.
The house was constructed of reinforced cast-in-place concrete and is one of the 
three earliest extant buildings known to have used this construction material in the 
Salt River Valley. Other early examples are the Korricks Building (1912) in Phoenix 
and the San Marcos Hotel (1912) in Chandler. Reinforced cast-in-place concrete in a 
structural system was not used in the Salt River Valley until after the turn of the 
century. Consequently, the use of this construction method was quite progressive.
Charles H. Dunlap, who resided in the house from about the time it was built until 
ca. 1930 came to Arizona in 1881, spending a year in Tombstone and Tucson. Follow­ 
ing his location in Phoenix, he engaged in the ice business. In 1904, he and 
Roland C. Baker formed the People's Ice and Fuel Company. The ice industry was vital
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The Dunlap House is currently being rehabilitated for office space according to the 
Secretary of the Interior's Standards. As part of this project, the original porch 
openings are being restored.
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